# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC03-1042

TERRELL M. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0066850

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal involves the summary denial of Mr. Johnson's successive Rule 3.851 motion without an evidentiary hearing. References in the Brief shall be as follows:

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Johnson was indicted for two counts of first degree murder on May 23, 1980, in Orange County, Florida.¹ The jury returned verdicts of guilty and a judgment of conviction was entered on September 26, 1980, for first degree murder as to Count I and the lesser included offense of second degree murder as to Count II. The sentencing jury first voted 6-6 which would have resulted in a life recommendation if no additional vote had been taken. However, the jury continued to deliberate, and after a second vote of 7-5 returned an advisory recommendation of death on September 29, 1980. Mr. Johnson was sentenced to death on October 3, 1980, for Count I of the indictment, and to life imprisonment for Count II of the indictment.

Mr. Johnson appealed from the judgment of conviction and this Court remanded for gross errors and omissions in the trial transcript. The case was resubmitted over lengthy enumerated objections of defense counsel and Mr. Johnson's convictions were affirmed on November 23, 1983. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 442 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 1983). Mr. Johnson thereafter sought Rule 3.850 relief.

After an evidentiary hearing on December 22, 1986, the trial court issued an order denying relief on June 12, 1989. Subsequently, Mr. Johnson's appeal to this Court was denied. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1992).

On May 5, 1992 Mr. Johnson filed a petition for writ of habeas

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ A complete procedural history of the case with citations to the prior records may be found in Mr. Johnson's February 8, 2002 Rule 3.851 motion. (S. 2-7).

corpus in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. On September 8, 1994, the District Court dismissed the petition ordering Mr. Johnson to exhaust claims in state court.

Mr. Johnson filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in this Court seeking exhaustion of claims on January 18, 1995. That petition was denied and a motion for rehearing was denied on June 5, 1997. Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 1996).

On February 13, 1997 Mr. Johnson filed a second Rule 3.850 motion alleging, inter alia, newly discovered evidence and evidence of a previously unknown <u>Brady</u> violation and on January 28, 1999, Mr. Johnson filed a consolidated motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence with request for leave to amend and for evidentiary hearing.

On June 15, 1999, the Honorable A. Thomas Mihok entered an order denying Mr. Johnson's motion without an evidentiary hearing. On October 25, 2001 Mr. Johnson's appeal from that summary denial of postconviction relief was denied. A Motion to Relinquish Jurisdiction back to circuit court in Orlando for consideration of public records production issues was also denied by Order of this Court on October 25, 2001, but "without prejudice to file an appropriate motion with the trial court". A motion for re-hearing before this Court was subsequently denied on December 31, 2001. The mandate issued January 30, 2002, included language directing Mr. Johnson to return to Circuit Court to adjudicate public records claims that this Court had refused to remand for during the pendency of the appeal.

Mr. Johnson filed a new Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 motion on February 8, 2002 (S. 1-104). The State subsequently filed a response, and on May 31, 2002, Mr. Johnson filed a reply, a motion for continuance of the scheduled <a href="Huff">Huff</a>² hearing and a motion for in camera inspection (S. 106-179; 186-560). On August 2, 2002, Mr. Johnson filed a consolidated 3.851 motion with additional claims in light of newly discovered evidence and new federal case law applicable to the Florida death penalty sentencing system (R. 56-124). See Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002). On August 6, 2002, Mr. Johnson filed a Motion to Allow Amendment of Prior Motion to Vacate, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 (f)(4). (R. 125-27). The lower court ultimately denied the August 2, 2002 motion without an evidentiary hearing in orders dated November 4, 2002 and March 26, 2003. (R. 201-03, 281-84). This appeal follows.

#### FACTS OF THE CASE<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Johnson is a death-sentenced inmate whose case is before this Court on appeal from the summary denial of postconviction relief on a successive motion filed pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851.

On March 14, 2001 and on April 19, 2001, months after the oral argument in the prior proceedings in this Court, undersigned counsel was informed first by the Office of the Secretary of State (Capital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

 $<sup>^3</sup>$ These facts are summarized from Mr. Johnson's Motion To Relinquish Jurisdiction in Case No. 96,333 before this Court (S. 58-105). The Motion was included as Attachment D of Mr. Johnson's February 8, 2002 Rule 3.851 motion. All the documents referred to in the facts may be found in Attachments A-H to the Motion To Relinquish (S. 70-105).

Collateral Post Conviction Records Repository) and then by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) that public records in Mr. Johnson's case had recently been produced to the repository by the State Attorney's Office - Ninth Judicial Circuit and by FDLE. Undersigned counsel responded by letter to the repository on April 25, 2001, attaching the prior correspondence and the FDLE pleading. On May 9, 2001, in response to an April 25, 2001 letter from undersigned counsel, the repository provided a copy of the index specifically detailing the materials that had sent to the repository by Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) and the State Attorney Office, 9th Judicial Circuit. A CD ROM with the unsealed documents encoded was also provided to counsel by the repository.

The receipt of notice of production of additional public records during an appeal process is an unusual occurrence.

Comparison of the new production with the materials previously provided by the State Attorney and FDLE was commenced, with an eye towards supplemental litigation in Mr. Johnson's case.

In the case of FDLE, the two boxes of records provided in April 2001 included one box, #01688, that was labelled as restricted and sealed, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.852 (f).4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Exempt or Confidential Public Records

<sup>(1)</sup> Any public records delivered to the repository pursuant to these rules that are confidential or exempt from the requirements of section 119.07(1), Florida Statutes, or article I, section 24(a), Florida Constitution, must be separately contained, without being redacted, and sealed. The outside of the container must clearly identify that the public record is confidential or exempt and that the seal may not be broken without an order of the trial court. The outside of the container must identify the nature of the public

The only indication anywhere in the record that FDLE ever claimed any exemptions during the postconviction litigation in Mr. Johnson's case can be found in a May 21, 1992 letter from FDLE to CCR in response to a 1992 records request in Mr. Johnson's case (S. 102). The letter stated that FDLE did claim that "[i]nformation exempt from disclosure pursuant to Sections 119.07(3)(b), (k) (x), Florida Statutes, has been excised." However, following a subsequent March 25, 1996 CCR records request to FDLE, during a hearing before Judge A. Thomas Mihok on August 14, 1997 pursuant to a Motion To Compel that had been filed by Mr. Johnson on March 7, 1997, Steve Brady, counsel for the F.D.L.E., represented that "we have conducted a diligent search and we've given them (CCR) everything we have on Mr. Johnson" (S. 62).

FDLE asserted two entirely new exemptions in the April 2001 production of records: 119.07(3)(c) regarding information revealing the identity of a confidential informant and 119.07(3)(f) regarding criminal intelligence information or investigative information...which reveals the identity of a victim of sexual battery (R. 84). In 2002 an *in camera* examination was performed in circuit court on the contents of Box # 01688. Mr. Johnson had plead

records and the legal basis for the exemption.

<sup>(2)</sup> Upon entry of an appropriate court order, sealed containers subject to an inspection by the trial court shall be shipped to the clerk of court. The containers may be opened only for inspection by the trial court in camera. The moving party shall bear all costs associated with the transportation and inspection of such records by the trial court. The trial court shall perform the unsealing and inspection without ex parte communications and in accord with procedures for reviewing sealed documents.

that it would be necessary to obtain testimony from FDLE and other parties to establish the relevance and materiality of the documents produced to the repository in his final consolidated motion:

1. Mr. Johnson pleads pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(2)(C) that potential witnesses at an evidentiary hearing would include, but not be limited to:

Chris Lerner, Esq.
Office of the State Attorney
415 N. Orange Avenue
Orlando, FL 32801
(407)836-2406

Custodian of Records Office of the State Attorney 415 N. Orange Avenue Orlando, FL 32801 (407)836-2406

James D. Martin, Esq. Assistant General Counsel Florida Department of Law Enforcement P.O. Box 1489 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850)410-7676

The Custodian of Records Florida Department of Law Enforcement P.O. Box 1489 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850)410-7676

Pamela Izakowitz, Esq.
Martin McClain, Esq.
Sylvia Smith, Esq.
c/o: CCRC-South
101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954)713-1284

2. If an evidentiary hearing is scheduled in the above captioned case, undersigned counsel is prepared to subpoena the above listed witnesses to testify under oath to the facts alleged in the motion, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 (e)(C)(ii). Documentary evidence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P.

- 3.851(e)(C)(ii) is contained in the Attachments to this pleading and/or prior pleadings.
- (R. 63-64). These same names and addresses of witnesses to be called at an evidentiary hearing were also included in the first Rule 3.851 pleading filed by Mr. Johnson in this cause on February 8, 2002 (S. 8).

Mr. Johnson never got the opportunity to examine the FDLE about the genesis of the documents that were produced. The lower court entered orders denying his Rule 3.851 motion without an evidentiary hearing.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

- 1. The lower court entered orders denying relief without an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Johnson's public records claim which were an abuse of discretion that denied him an opportunity to develop the reasons why and how in 2001 the FDLE produced for the first time records concerning criminal activity by persons with the same names as the jurors in his 1980 trial.
- 2. Mr. Johnson is entitled to relief from his death sentence pursuant to <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002). The lower court's order failed to find any procedural bar, finding only that "this claim does not merit relief".
- 3. Action by the lower court entering orders denying relief without an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Johnson's claim that newly discovered evidence required an evidentiary hearing in circuit court to support his position that lethal injection as a method of execution violates the Eighth Amendment of the United States

Constitution was erroneous.

#### ARGUMENT I

## MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS RULE 3.851 CLAIMS

Mr. Johnson's final consolidated Rule 3.851 motion was filed on August 2, 2002.<sup>5</sup> He pleaded detailed issues and demonstrated his entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. However, on November 4, 2002, and on March 26, 2003, the lower court entered orders summarily denying Mr. Johnson' Rule 3.851 motion without granting a hearing on any portion of it. (R. 201-03, 281-84).<sup>6</sup> The lower court erred.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Mr. Johnson's initial successive Rule 3.851 motion was served on February 8, 2002. The motion was twenty pages long, with additional Attachments A-D. (Note that Attachment D, Mr. Johnson's May 23, 2001 Motion To Relinquish Jurisdiction, itself included Attachments A-H). Mr. Johnson's Rule 3.851 initial motion contained two claims. The first concerned certain documents related to Mr. Johnson's case produced in March and April 2001 to the Capital Collateral Post Conviction Records Repository by the FDLE and the Office of the State Attorney in Orange County, Florida. Attachment B of Mr. Johnson's motion included indices prepared by the documents repository of the 2001 production, including the information that the FDLE's production referenced individuals named Linda Stewart, William Young, Peggy Smith, Gregory Simmons, Fred Cooper, William Young, and The second claim was a cumulative error claim Betty Phillips. predicated on Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995) and State v. Gunsby, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1994). The second claim was ultimately denied as procedurally barred in the lower court's order on November 4, 2002. (R. 202). The public records claim requested leave to amend after an in camera inspection by the lower court of all documents claimed as exempt, subsequent review of any documents turned over by the lower court, and comparison of all the new documents discovered since 2001 with all documents previously in the possession of counsel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The later order, granting in part and denying in part Mr. Johnson's Motion for Rehearing, released to the parties copies of a single FDLE investigative report that had been claimed as exempt, document MI-57-656, described by the lower court in the order as follows:

"The report refers to a fugitive with a criminal history

The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in capital post conviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters. "Because the trial court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing...our review is limited to determining whether the motion conclusively shows whether [Mr. Johnson] is entitled to no relief." Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067, 1069 (Fla; 1988). See also LeDuc v. State, 415 So. 2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1982).

Some fact based claims in post conviction litigation can only be considered after an evidentiary hearing, <a href="Heiney v. State">Heiney v. State</a>, 558
So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1990). "The need for an evidentiary hearing presupposes that there are issues of fact which cannot be conclusively resolved by the record. Where a determination has been made that a defendant is entitled to such an evidentiary hearing (as in this case), denial of that right would constitute denial of all due process and could never be harmless." Holland v. State, 503
So.2d 1250, 1252-3 (Fla. 1987). "Accepting the allegations . . .at face value, as we must for purposes of this appeal, they are sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing", Lightbourne v. Dugger,

who uses as an alias the name of one of the jurors in Defendant's trial. While the Court notes that any connection between that fugitive and the actual juror is purely speculative, that investigative report is the only exempt document which the Court cannot definitively find to be irrelevant." (R. 282). No opportunity to amend was provided by the lower court after entry of the order. The order noted that "All other claims within the instant motion are DENIED" and further that "Defendant is advised that if he wishes to appeal, he must do so in writing, within thirty (30) days of this Order" (R. 283).

549 So.2d 1364, 1365 (Fla 1989).

Mr. Johnson has pleaded below detailed allegations concerning the public records mess which he found himself in when public agencies took it upon themselves to produce entirely new records to the records repository while Mr. Johnson was appealing the lower court's prior denial of Rule 3.850 relief to this Court. Once he was able to return to Circuit Court via the means of filing a successive motion pursuant to Rule 3.851(e)(2), which he did only 9 days after the mandate issued from this Court following the prior appeal, he argued that only an evidentiary hearing could help him to establish what the FDLE documents meant in the overall context of the case. February 21, 2002, the lower court ordered the state to respond within 30 days to Mr. Johnson's motion (S. 105). On March 25, 2002, the State filed a thirteen-page response, with additional Exhibits A-G, to Mr. Johnson's initial Rule 3.851 motion (S. 106-179). 31, 2002, Mr. Johnson filed a Reply to the State's Response, further detailing the necessity for an evidentiary hearing on the public records issues:

- 2. The State noted in its Response that this Court entered an order dated August 18, 1997 finding that the Ninth Circuit State Attorney and the FDLE had complied with public records requests. As noted in Mr. Johnson's 3.851 motion, this Court later entered an order on January 5, 1999 stating that "there will be no further public records requests or argument regarding public records requests," and Mr. Johnson subsequently filed his consolidated postconviction motion on January 28, 1999.
- 3. As a starting point, Mr. Johnson informs the court that that portion of the production of records by FDLE in April 2001 that was not claimed as exempt and sealed

- includes numerous documents that were never produced to Mr. Johnson during the pendency of his case in circuit court. Twenty three (23) folders of documents were indexed and included in the FDLE production. Attachment 2.
- 4. Even a cursory examination of these records reveals that many of them could not possibly have been provided to Mr. Johnson during the course of his case in circuit court. This is because four folders of the documents had not been created within FDLE until after Mr. Johnson filed his final 3.850 motion on January 28, 1999. Specifically, folders 8, 18, 19 and 23 contain documents dated July 8, 1999, April 7, 1999, November 12, 1999, and June 10, 1999, all created after this Court summarily denied Mr. Johnson's 3.850 motion.
- In addition to the documents created 5. after the public records process had been ended in Mr. Johnson's case, the other 19 folders produced in 2001 by FDLE appear to have been produced to Mr. Johnson for the first time in 2001 despite the long history of prior public records litigation in circuit court. These documents are dated from February 1988 until September 1998. Certainly this production calls into question the record keeping practices of the FDLE in regards to Mr. Johnson's case. This is not speculation as alleged in the State's response. Mr. Johnson affirmatively states that he was never provided the nineteen folders of records dated from 1988-1998 attached to this Reply and it is self evident that he could not have been supplied with folders 8, 18, 19 and 23, that post-date his January 1999 3.850 pleading.
- 6. Why the pre-1999 FDLE records were not produced before 2001 is an issue that can only be resolved at an evidentiary hearing. Why the 1999 FDLE material was produced in 2001 along with the other material is another entirely relevant issue. The material produced by FDLE is newly discovered evidence pursuant to the State's citations in its Response. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991). "The question is not whether the facts could have been discovered but instead whether the prisoner was diligent in his efforts." <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 529 U.S. 420, 435 (2000). "Diligence . . . depends on whether the prisoner made a reasonable attempt, in light of

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