IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERRELL M. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-1042

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Johnson's successive Rule 3.851 motion without an evidentiary hearing. The Circuit Court conducted two in camera reviews of the documents at issue, and found that, but for one document which was released to Johnson, the remaining documents were not only exempt from disclosure, but also irrelevant. Johnson has not raised any issue concerning the documents that were found exempt, and has not raised any issue based on the document that was disclosed. The Circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying Johnson's motion, and that result should not be disturbed.

Johnson's Ring v. Arizona claim is procedurally barred, is not retroactively applicable to this case, is without merit. Alternatively, Ring is inapplicable to the facts of this case because the prior violent felony aggravator and the during the course of a robbery aggravator are clearly applicable to the murder for which Johnson was convicted and sentenced to death.

ARGUMENT

¹Johnson makes only two passing references to the order on rehearing. He has not acknowledged the extensive review of the exempt documents that the Circuit Court undertook.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF JOHNSON'S SUCCESSIVE MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, WITHOUT A HEARING ON THE PUBLIC RECORDS CLAIM, SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

On pages 8-31 of his brief, Johnson argues that the Circuit Court erroneously denied his successive *Florida Rule* of *Criminal Procedure* 3.851 motion without an evidentiary hearing, and that that denial was an abuse of discretion.² There is no basis for relief.

Johnson's position is that the Circuit Court should have conducted an evidentiary hearing to "help him establish what the FDLE documents meant in the overall context of the case." Initial Brief, at 10. He goes on to frame the question as "Why was there production by the FDLE in 2001? Mr. Johnson has never been afforded the opportunity to explore the nature and the extent of FDLE's apparent records search concerning the jurors in Mr. Johnson's case." Initial Brief, at 22, n.9. However, despite the histrionics of Johnson's brief, the true facts are that the Circuit Court conducted two in camera reviews of the documents at issue, and found that, but for one document which was released to Johnson, all of the documents were not only exempt from disclosure, but also irrelevant. See pages 3-5, above. Johnson has raised no claim based upon the disclosed document, nor has he claimed in this appeal that the

 $^{^2}$ The determination that various documents were exempt from disclosure is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *Campus Communs.*, *Inc.* v. *Earnhardt*, 821 So. 2d 388, 402 (5th DCA 2002).

Circuit Court erroneously found the documents exempt from disclosure and irrelevant. Regardless of how interesting it might be to Johnson to determine why FDLE sent various documents to the records repository at a time that Johnson labels as late in the proceedings, there is no authority for the proposition that a presumptively valid conviction and sentence should be delayed to allow Johnson to examine members of FDLE concerning their shipment of records to the records repository. And, despite the shrill complaints contained in Johnson's brief, the true facts are that the Circuit Court conducted an in camera review of the documents at issue, and found them exempt from disclosure. (R282)³. Because Johnson does not challenge that holding, and because he does not allege that the alternative lack of relevance holding was error, there is simply no appealable issue before this Court.

To the extent that further discussion of this issue is necessary, Johnson concedes that the Circuit Court followed Rule 3.852 in dealing with this claim (*Initial Brief* at 22), but then asserts that there were other public records requests which remain unidentified. The purpose of an appellate brief is to present legal argument in support of the party's

 $^{^3}$ The Circuit Court conducted two *in camera* reviews of the documents at issue, even though the second review was unnecessary. Given that Johnson has pressed the issue on appeal anyway, the axiom that "No good deed goes unpunished" comes to mind. *Bonfiglio v. Nugent*, 986 F. 2d 1391, 1392 (11th Cir. 1993).

position, not to compel the opposing party and the Court to speculate about the claims contained therein, as the claim about "other public records" does. This claim is insufficiently briefed, and should not be considered for any purpose.

To the extent that Johnson complains that he did not receive a case management conference, the record demonstrates that such a conference was conducted on March 17, 2003. (R35-55). To the extent that Johnson raises a passing complaint about the disposition of his motion to interview jurors, that motion was filed on April 21, 2003. (R296). Johnson filed notice of appeal on April 25, 2003, (R305) thereby divesting the Circuit Court of jurisdiction to rule on that motion.⁴

In the final analysis, the issue before the Circuit Court, and the issue that is before this Court in turn, is whether the FDLE records at issue were exempt from disclosure (as well as irrelevant). That is the determination the Circuit Court is required to make under *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.852(f), and the Court did not abuse its discretion in doing so. 5 The Circuit Court should be affirmed in all

⁴The Circuit Court directed Johnson to file a written motion to interview jurors during the March 17, 2003 hearing. (R 54). Johnson did not file that motion until a month later, and should not be heard to complain about his own lack of diligence.

⁵To the extent that Johnson asserts that he is entitled to a hearing because he attached FDLE documents "that indicated

respects.

II. THE RING V. ARIZONA CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, IS NOT RETROACTIVELY APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE, IS MERITLESS, AND, ALTERNATIVELY, IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE. 6

On pages 31-39 of his brief, Johnson argues that $Ring\ v$. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), invalidates Florida's capital sentencing structure. This argument is not a basis for relief for the following, independently adequate, reasons.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS

Johnson claims that the United States Supreme Court's Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), decision invalidates Florida's long-upheld capital sentencing structure. There are three fundamental reasons why the Apprendi/Ring argument fails: that claim is procedurally barred; Johnson's death sentence is supported by aggravators that fall outside any interpretation of Apprendi/Ring; and, the statute under which Johnson was sentenced to death provides that, upon conviction for capital murder, the maximum possible sentence is death,

potential criminal activity by jurors," that claim is simply inaccurate. The only attachment to his postconviction motion relates to execution by lethal injection. (R105-124). The only juror information appended to any pleading consists of juror questionnaires. (R237-250; 261-274). Those two appendices appear to be identical.

⁶ Johnson makes this claim despite the complete dissimilarity of the Florida and Arizona statutes, and despite the fact that no decisions of the United States Supreme Court upholding the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty statutes were invalidated, criticized, or otherwise called into question in *Ring*.

unlike the statute at issue in Ring. It is true that Ring clarified the applicability of Apprendi to capital cases and partially overruled Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990). However, Walton had been decided based on a misunderstanding by the United States Supreme Court of Arizona death penalty fact that is conspicuously absent law, a pivotal Johnson's habeas petition. The fundamental issue in Ring, and the rationale behind the result, clearly rests on the United States Supreme Court's misinterpretation of Arizona's capital sentencing statute. Ring at 603-5. However, Ring has application to Florida's death sentencing scheme because the Court did not misinterpret Florida law. Johnson's claim that Florida's statute fails because Walton has been overruled is predicated upon the false (and demonstrably incorrect) assertion that Florida and Arizona have functionally identical capital sentencing statutes. A cursory reading of demonstrates that that is simply not true. Even ignoring the clear procedural bars and the total legal inapplicability of Ring to the facts of this case, the basic difference between Arizona and Florida law is dispositive of Johnson's claims.

A. THE RING CLAIM IS NOT AVAILABLE TO JOHNSON BECAUSE IT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

⁷The *Ring* Court determined that *Apprendi* and its impact on the prior decision in *Walton* required clarification (or correction of the Court's understanding) of the role of the jury in **Arizona** capital sentencing. Nothing in that decision changed the dynamic of Florida's capital sentencing scheme under *Apprendi* and *Ring*.

AND BECAUSE IT IS NOT RETROACTIVE TO HIS CASE

1. The Apprendi/Ring claim is procedurally barred.8

Johnson's reliance on Ring to support a Sixth Amendment claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial and on direct appeal. The issue in Ring (which is merely an extension of Apprendi, anyway) is by no means new or novel -- that claim, or a variation of it, has been known since before the United States Supreme Court's 1976 decision in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976) (holding that the Constitution does not require jury sentencing). The "basis" for a claim that the sentence imposed in this case violated Johnson's right to a jury trial has been available since he was sentenced to death -- he raised this claim after Apprendi9 was decided, as did other Florida death row inmates, who have been raising the same claim since well prior to Ring. See, Mills, infra. There is nothing magical about an Apprendi claim, and, despite the pretensions of

⁸The Circuit Court found that this Court had rejected the Apprendi /Ring claim in Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), and that, therefore, this claim did not merit relief. (R202). The State had pled that the claim was procedurally barred, time barred, and inapplicable to the facts of this case. (R146, et seq.) None of those defenses were waived below, and the State reasserts each available defense here.

⁹Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), was released on June 26, 2000. Any claims based on that case are untimely because they were not raised until more than two years after Apprendi was released. Rule 3.851(d), Fla. R. Crim. P.

Johnson's brief, *Ring* is nothing more than the application of Apprendi to capital cases. There is no justification for a departure by this Court from application of the well-settled State procedural bar rules, which this Court reaffirmed in *F.B. v. State*, 852 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 2003). The fact that the Circuit Court did not specifically address the procedural bar defense raised by the State (R146) does not preclude this Court from ruling on the procedural bar, and, by so doing, protecting the validity and integrity of Florida's well-settled procedural bar rules. The Apprendi claim was not raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in any of Johnson's prior postconviction proceedings, and is procedurally barred - all relief should be denied on that basis. See, e.g., Bundy v. State, 538 So. 2d 445 (Fla. 1985).

2. The aggravators in Johnson's case fall outside the scope of Apprendi/Ring, and reliance on those decisions is misplaced.

In addition to being procedurally barred, Apprendi/Ring does not provide a basis for relief in this case because the rule of law set out in those cases is inapplicable to the facts of Johnson's case. The prior violent felony aggravator

¹⁰ In F.B. v. State, this Court was explicit in holding that the only exception to the contemporaneous objection rule (which Johnson clearly did not follow) is when the error is fundamental, which an Apprendi/Ring claim is not. In this case, there is no error at all under Apprendi/Ring, and, because that is so, the contemporaneous objection rule applies and should be enforced by this Court.

and the during the course of a robbery aggravator, both of which are clearly applicable, fall outside of any conceivable interpretation of Apprendi/Ring. 11

Under the plain language of Apprendi, a prior violent felony conviction (which in this case was attempted robbery and attempted murder) is a fact which may be a basis to impose a sentence higher than that authorized by the jury's verdict without the need for additional jury findings. There is no constitutional violation (nor can there be) because the prior convictions constitute a jury finding which the judge may rely upon, without additional jury findings, in imposing sentence. See Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224 (1998); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). Under any view of the law, and even after Ring, the jury is not required to make

¹¹Johnson admitted that the murder for which he was sentenced to death was committed during a robbery and for pecuniary gain, and the sentencing court merged those two aggravators into one. Johnson v. State, 442 So. 2d at 197. Johnson had also been previously convicted of attempted robbery and attempted murder, both of which are violent felonies as a matter of law. Id. These aggravators fall outside any conceivable interpretation of Apprendi/Ring, and render the arguments contained in Johnson's brief legally inapplicable to this case.

¹² Of course, under Florida law, death is the maximum possible sentence for the crime of first degree murder, and that is the defendant's sentence exposure upon conviction. See Section B, infra. The "higher than authorized by the jury" component of Apprendi is not applicable to the capital sentencing process in Florida, but that distinction does not affect the basic premise that a prior felony conviction is a fact that has already been found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and does not need to be (and as a policy matter should not be) "re-proven."

a determination of the prior violent felony aggravator, and that aggravating circumstance can be found by the judge alone.

Under any interpretation of the facts, the "prior violent felony conviction" aggravator and the "during the commission of a felony" aggravator obviate any possible Sixth Amendment error. These aggravating circumstances are outside of the Apprendi/Ring holding, 13 and, because that is so, those decisions are of no help to Johnson. Johnson's claim has no legal basis because Apprendi/Ring is inapplicable to the facts of this case as well as because a Florida conviction for murder made capital establishes that defendant's eligibility for a death sentence. Johnson's attempt to bring his case under the Apprendi/Ring umbrella is an attempt to force the square peg of Florida's death penalty statute into the round hole of Ring. No relief is justified.

3. Ring is not retroactive to Johnson's case.

In addition to being procedurally barred as well as legally and factually inapplicable, no court to consider the

U.S. 227, 243 n.6 (1999), for the proposition that under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments, "any fact (other than prior conviction) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt." Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476 (2000). [emphasis added]. The Court has already clearly said that death is the maximum penalty for first degree murder, so that component of the statement has no application to Florida law. In any event, Johnson's prior violent felony conviction, and the murder during a robbery aggravator, are outside any possible (or reasonable) interpretation of Apprendi and Ring.

issue¹⁴ has held **Apprendi** to be retroactive, ¹⁵ and *Ring* is "simply an extension of *Apprendi* to the death penalty context." Cannon v. Mullin, 297 F. 3d 989 (10th Cir. 2002), cert. and stay of execution denied, 536 U.S. 974 (U.S. July 23, 2002)¹⁶; In re Johnson, 334 F. 3d 403 (5th Cir. 2003) ("Since the rule in *Ring* is essentially an application of

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